SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Sep 11, 2015, 4:57 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

40. <u>92220-9</u>

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 71425-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE

ANNE BLOCK,

Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF GOLD BAR,

Respondent

BLOCK'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michele Earl-Hubbard, WSBA #26454 Allied Law Group P.O. Box 33744 Seattle, WA 98133 Phone (206) 801-7510 Fax: (206) 428-7169



Attorneys for Plaintiff/Petitioner Anne Block



FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Anne Block was the Plaintiff in the trial court and the Appellant in the Court of Appeals.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Division One Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion on June 22, 2015, and granted a Motion to Publish by the Washington State Attorney General's Office on August 12, 2015. The Opinion and Order Granting the Motion to Publish are attached hereto as **Appendices A and B**. The Opinion upheld the trial court's grant of summary judgment to the City of Gold Bar ("City") on this Public Record Act ("PRA") case and denial of partial summary judgment to the requestor, and denied the requestor fees, costs and penalties.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for review are as follows:

- 1. Whether Division One erred in shifting the burden of proof to the requestor on all issues?
- 2. Whether Division One erred in upholding the grant of summary judgment to the City and denial of partial summary judgment to Block and erred in refusing to award fees and costs to Block and remanding for a determination as to penalties?
- 3. Whether Division One erred in equating the City's claim of a "reasonable search" as the only required element for a showing an adequate response?
- 4. Whether Division One erred in finding that the City's exemption log for the 2/27/09 productions did not violate RCW 42.56.210(3) and **Sanders v.**

<u>State</u> by not providing a clear explanation of the records withheld, the alleged exemptions, and a brief explanation of how the exemptions apply to the withheld records?

- 5. Whether Division One erred in finding the City did not violate the PRA by not providing all responsive records to Block on February 27, 2009, failing to identify the records not produced, and failing to perform an adequate search?
- 6. Whether Division One erred in finding that the City did not violate the PRA by withholding 66 pages of records in their entirety, including header information, which no court ever reviewed, based on alleged attorney client privilege and work product privilege?
- 7. Whether Division One erred in finding the City did not violate the PRA by providing 29 pages of significantly redacted records based on claims of attorney client privilege and work product privilege and, for some records, a "draft" exemption?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Block incorporates herein her Brief of Appellant, pages 1-17, setting forth the detailed factual history and record. Block made two PRA requests to the City of Gold Bar, one for records related to the investigation and termination of employee Karl Majerle theft and sabotaging the City's water system, and the other for records related to the City's efforts to respond to that first request. See <u>App. C</u> hereto, Brief of Appellant, at 1-17. Both requests included a request for emails on public or private email accounts. Gold Bar Mayor Crystal Hill did not have a City email address and used her personal and a non-government employment email extensively for City business. <u>Id</u>. Despite Mayor Hill's extensive use of email, the records produced by the City included only 10 pages of scanned

email messages relating to Majerle, four of which were identical copies of the same email dated 9/18/08, from Mayor Hill to City Clerk Laura Kelly, produced from Kelly's copy. CP 453, 524-533. The emails were dated from 9/18/08-10/15/08. CP 453, 524-533. None of the emails were contemporaneous with the Majerle incident in June 2008. CP 453, 524-533. The City withheld from the first request 66 pages of emails and other records in their entirety. CP 534-38. These records were identified in a privilege log provided on 2/27/09, stating the City was withholding the records in their entirety as "Exempt under Attorney Client Privilege/work product RCW 5.60.060(2)(a) and Hangartner v. City of Seattle 151, [sic] Wn.2d 439 (2004) and Exempt-RCW 42.56.290 and under Washington case law, notably Harris v. Drake, 116 Wn App. [sic] 261, aff'd 1252 Wn.2d 480." This same statement, typographical errors and all, was repeated for each of the entirelywithheld records in the log. CP 535-38 (italics in original). The log did not reveal the subject of any of the records or explain the alleged controversy at issue for purposes of RCW 42.56.290 or explain how the two cases cited applied to the records. Both privileges (attorney client privilege as well as work product) were cited for every one of the withheld records, including records that purported to be notes of an attorney and had not been communicated to anyone. See CP 537-538 (descriptions for withheld documents 679-710 and 717-722). The City never lodged these records with

the Court for an in camera review even when it filed a summary judgment motion asking the Court to hold the records were privileged.

The City also redacted 29 pages of redacted emails in response to request two based on identical exemption log language, only adding a "drafts" exemption with no explanation for a few additional documents. See App. C at 8; CP 448, 453, 475-78, 481-86, 488-512, 539-44. The 29 pages of redacted records were dated from 12/12/08-2/13/09. CP 453, 539-44. The email records should illustrate what efforts, if any, were made by Mayor Hill or the City to retrieve and produce records responsive to the 1st PRA request dated 12/8/08-12/9/08 particularly whether any attempt was made to obtain and preserve Hill's emails at that time. See sealed unredacted versions of records attached to CP 34, docket 38, (See Index to Clerk's Papers Vol. I p. 2 "Exhibit to Follow Under Separate Cover"). The City refused to answer discovery regarding the contents of these records or its steps to search for and produce records and specifically instructed witnesses not to answer questions on these subjects during depositions taken by Block in this case.

In March 2012, Block's attorney deposed the City Clerk Laura Kelly.

Block's attorney asked the City Clerk a series of questions about the redacted emails, specifically including the emails exchanged between 12/12/08 and 1/23/09 regarding Block's PRA request for records relating to Karl Majerle.

CP 455, 584-89. Block was unable to obtain significant information about whether Mayor Hill had retrieved or produced her emails in response to

Block's PRA request because the City broadly asserted that the redacted contents of the emails was privileged as the Kelly transcript shows:

- Q. Do these emails address the redacted portions of these emails address the question of whether or not Crystal Hill had responsive records?
- MR. MYERS (City's attorney): I'm going to object on the grounds that the content of the redactions is withheld as attorney-client privilege and it's inappropriate to ask for the content of the privileged materials, and instruct the witness not to answer...
- Q. Does anything in these emails address whether or not Crystal Hill had actually provided records to you and Cheryl Beyer [for review]?
- MY MYERS: I'm going to object... [and] instruct the witness not to answer.
- Q. Do these redactions address whether or not the City has completed the process of searching for responsive records?
- MR. MYERS: Same objection. Same instruction.
- Q. Do these redactions address whether or not the City has finished the process of reviewing the documents that it has obtained?
 MR. MYERS: Same objection. Same instruction.

CP 587-89.

The 2/27/09 production was the City's sole production for the December 2008 and February 2009 PRA Requests at issue in this lawsuit. The City claimed it had produced all non-exempt responsive records on that date and closed Block's request. In the 2/27/09 production, the City did not identify or produce a number of records that were responsive to Block's two requests for records at issue in this appeal. See, e.g., CP 444-47, 449, 455-58, 462-67, 468-72, 479-80, 568, 572-74. Some of the records produced by the City on

2/27/09 were incomplete, and other responsive records were not mentioned or identified at all and were obtained by Block later from other sources. <u>Id.</u>

Some additional responsive records were produced by the City in November 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 in response to different requests for records. CP 444-47, 449, 455-58, 465, 468-69, 471-72, 479-80, 568, 572-74.

Block filed a motion for partial summary judgment on 7/9/13, seeking a finding that the City violated the PRA by failing to produce responsive records, failing to produce redacted copies of records that the City asserted were exempt as privileged or work product, and failing to explain how exemptions applied to redacted or withheld records as required by RCW 42.56.210(3). CP 590-613. The City also moved for Summary Judgment argued it had made a reasonable search for records and that it was Block's burden to prove the agency had violated the PRA, all the while refusing to provide discovery as to specifics of what it did to search and identify records on the basis of alleged privilege. Thirty-five pages of redacted records were reviewed in camera. CP 34 (sealed exhibit sent to Appellate Court under separate cover). On 10/2/13 the trial court granted the City's motion for summary judgment and denied Block's motion for partial summary judgment. CP 29. Its sole findings regarding withheld or redacted records related to the 35 pages it reviewed in camera and ignored the 66 pages of entirely-withheld records and all the records Block identified that had never been produced by the City or were produced after the City claimed all records had been

produced. The entirety of its findings for the summary judgment decisions stated as follows:

- 2.1. [A]l of the documents qualified as either work product and/or attorney-client privilege and the exemption logs correctly reflected the applicable exemptions.
- 2.2. The records reviewed in camera are all protected by either or both the work product or attorney-client privilege. Some of the records contain information regarding the search for records responsive to Block's PRRs, but in the context of attorney communications.

CP 29 (10/2/13 Order.) The record made clear that the trial court had improperly shifted the burden to Block in this PRA case, as the City had urged, in a manner that even Division One agrees was error. See Opinion at 4. Nonetheless, Division One also improperly shifted the burden to Block in its Opinion and upheld the grant of summary judgment to the City, the denial of partial summary judgment to Block, and denied Block any fees, costs or penalties in the matter. This Petition follows.

V. ARGUMENT

Review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) and (4). The decision is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court (RAP 13.4(b)(1))), another decision of the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(2)), and the petition further involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Division One recognized that the trial court improperly applied CR 56 to the summary judgment motions of the parties, but its Opinion shows

Division One also improperly shifted the burden to the requestor demanding that Block introduce evidence disputing a search was reasonable or that records were exempt or the log inadequate. The Division One Opinion confuses separate doctrines under the PRA and holds that a "reasonable search" claim by an agency is akin to a "get out of jail free" card immunizing an agency from any liability for failing to produce responsive records or any obligation to produce them when they are discovered. It further ignores the agency's duty to provide a an adequate response and exemption citation and to not withhold portions of records that are not exempt. Its decision conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court, its own decisions, and effectively disables the PRA.

This Court has recognized that under the PRA a requestor is entitled to two separate things. The first is an adequate response. The second is production of all non-exempt responsive records. Block here got neither, and future requestors could similarly be denied if this Opinion becomes the play book and test for agency compliance, which it appear highly likely it will be if not reviewed by this Court.

A. Inadequate Exemption Log and Explanation.

Block was entitled to an adequate response. This Court has held that part of an adequate response requires identification of all responsive records and all exemptions the agency claims apply to such records, and a

sufficient explanation of how the cited exemption applies to the individual withheld or redacted record. This Court has repeatedly held that a failure to provide a full identification of all existing records and this adequate exemption statement is itself a PRA violation, and that a requestor is entitled to an award of fees and costs in a litigation addressing this inadequate explanation whether or not records are ultimately deemed to have been improperly withheld. **City of Lakewood v. Koenig**, 182 Wn.2d 87, 343 P.3d 335 (2014); **Yakima County v. Yakima Herald-Republic**, 170 Wn.2d 775, 246 P.3d 768 (2011); **Sanders v. State**, 169 Wn.2d 827, 240 P.3d 120 (2010).

[U]nder Yakima County v. Yakima Herald-Republic, 170 Wash.2d 775, 809-10, 246 P.3d 768 (2011), attorney fees are available for a violation of the right to receive a response regardless of whether records are improperly withheld, There, the Yakima Herald-Republic sought information about the expenditures of public funds for the criminal defense of two murder defendants....[W]e remanded for a determination about whether nonjudicial entities actually held any [responsive records]. Thus, while we declined penalties as premature, we awarded costs and reasonable attorney fees to the newspaper because the county's equivocal response violated the brief explanation requirement. The same principles apply here.

Accordingly, Koenig is entitled to an award of reasonable attorney fees, including fees on appeal, pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(4) and RAP 18.1.

<u>Lakewood v. Koenig</u>, 182 Wn.2d at 98 (internal citations omitted).

Here, the agency's exemption statement consisted of the same cut and paste statement for every one of the withheld or redacted records,

exempt in their entirety for the 66 records and in heavily-redacted form for the 29 records based on attorney client privilege and work product, and in a few occasions a "draft" exemption. The explanation did not adequately explain how the exemption could apply to the withheld record or what the withheld record was. The trial court did not state which of the exemptions it thought applied (stating it was one "and/or" another), requiring the requestor to show records were not privileged. The requestor additionally was prevented from obtaining answers regarding the records or their contents or what they showed, and no information about the circumstances under which they were created was provided.

Division One claims the 35 pages it reviewed in camera appear privileged to it, but again do not state which exemptions apply and which do not to each specific record, and Division One declines to address the withholding in their entirety of the 66 pages of records faulting the requestor, and not the City, for the fact the records were not provided by the City for an in camera review to support the City's claim of exemption. This Court made clear in Lakewood v. Koenig, Sanders and Residential Housing Ass'n v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009), the level of specificity required for a withholding log to meet the agency's burden. Based on these precedents, the logs at issue here did not

and could not meet the agency's burden, and the trial and appellate courts were wrong to shift the burden to prove otherwise to Block. Division One erred in finding the exemption logs adequately met the agency's burden and in upholding a denial of summary judgment to Block and granted to the City on this issue.

The adequate exemption log is part of the adequate response requirement, which is a separate right under the PRA: the right to receive an adequate response. The City failed to provide an adequate response for several reasons, including the inadequacy of its identification and exemption statements. The City further did not and could not show its complete withholding of the 66 records were justified as will be explained further below.

B. Unreasonable Search Issue.

This Court held in Neighborhood Alliance v. County of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 1198 (2011):

Moreover, records are never exempt from disclosure, only production, so an adequate search is required to properly disclose responsive documents. *See Sanders*, 169 Wash.2d at 836, 240 P.3d 120. The failure to perform an adequate search precludes an adequate response and production. The PRA 'treats a failure to properly respond as a denial.' *Soter v. Cowles Pub'g Co.*, 162 Wash.2d 716, 750, 174 P.3d 60 (2007).

Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 721.

An adequate search is a prerequisite to an adequate response, so an adequate search is a violation of the PRA because it precludes an adequate response. But we put off for another day the question whether the PRA supports a freestanding daily penalty when an agency conducts an inadequate search but no responsive documents are subsequently produced. A prevailing party in such an instance is at least entitled to costs and reasonable attorney fees. *Soter*, 162 Wash.2d at 756, 174 P.3d 60; RCW 42.56.550(4).

Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 724-25.

Thus based on this Court's precedents, the issue of whether a record has been "disclosed" and an adequate exemption log has been provided is a separate issue from whether or not an entity has performed an adequate search first before preparing such a log or responding. It is also a separate issue from whether or not a responsive record is exempt.

In Neighborhood Alliance, the agency claimed no further records existed and refused to answer discovery related to the adequacy of the search to test the agency's claims. This Court remanded that case to allow discovery related to the agency's search and motive and other factors relevant to a determination of penalties. In that case, this Court also held that where any agency has not proven its search was reasonable that the requestor is entitled to an award of fees and costs since the inadequacy of the search establishes an inadequacy of the response as the inadequate search precludes an adequate response. 172 Wn.2d at 724-25.

12

So while this Court has held that an unreasonable search precludes an adequate response, this Court has never held that a reasonable search alone will establish a response was adequate. This Court has further never held that an adequate search alone will immunize an agency from PRA liability or from an award of fees or costs to a requestor when other records are located that were not identified or produced to the requestor. The Opinion here equates an alleged "reasonable search" showing to a "Get out of a jail free card" wherein no other facts need be examined if an agency alleges its initial search was reasonable. Here, the error is compounded because the requestor, as in **Neighborhood Alliance**, was denied discovery into what the agency did to search and respond to her request, and was precluded from gathering any information about the search. Here this was because the agency used attorneys to manage the search and production and then prevented participants such as the public records officer Kelly from answering questions regarding what was done and when and what existed and when. See, e.g., CP 587-89.

A "reasonable search" showing is part of the showing an agency must make to show its response was adequate, but it is but one part of that showing or a showing that it has otherwise fully complied with the PRA. An agency must further show it stated and explained exemptions, and it must explain why responsive records that did exist were not identified or produced. It

additionally must prove that any records redacted or withheld are actually exempt. Finally, an agency cannot make a "reasonable search" claim and then deprive the requestor of discovery and information needed to test that claim, as the agency did here. "Relevancy in a PRA action, then, includes *why* documents were withheld, destroyed, or even lost." Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 718 (emphasis in original).

The record here, further, could not support a finding that the agency performed a reasonable search. A reasonable search is one that

was reasonably calculated to discover all relevant documents. . . . [A]gencies are required to make more than a perfunctory search and to follow obvious leads as they are uncovered. The search should not be limited to one or more places if there are additional sources for the information requested....{The agency cannot limit its search to only one records system if there are others that are likely to turn up the information requested.

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