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

same initial burden. Under long-established law, Gold Bar then fully 

satisfied its burden simply by challenging the sufficiency of Block's 

evidence as to any material issue. Las v. Yell ow Front Stores, Inc., 66 

Wn. App. 196, 198, 831 P.2d 744 (1992). Under this long- and well

established law of summary judgment, Gold Bar was not obligated even to 

present affidavits, deposition testimony, or other evidence to meet its 

initial summary judgment burden. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 

325, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986),followed in Young v. Key 

Pharms., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216,225 & n.1, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). 

In response, and as both the trial court and the Court of Appeals 

found, Block offered no admissible factual evidence - none - that could in 

any manner create a disputed issue of material fact. Even though the 

defendant City was not obligated under Las, supra, and Celotex, supra, to 
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submit declarations or other factual evidence, it did so -- the declarations 

and deposition testimony of former Mayors Crystal Hill and Joe Beavers, 

and former City Clerk Laura Kelly (CP 60-89, 184-196, 197-231, 243-

312) provide clear and substantial evidence of the reasonableness of the 

City's search for records at the time of the PRRs. The City's unrefuted 

declarations are "accorded a presumption of good faith." Forbes v. Gold 

Bar, 171 Wn. App. 857, 867, 288 P.3d 384 (2012). 

At no point in the Petition does Block present any actual evidence 

to rebut the City's declarations and deposition testimony. Instead, Block 

claims on numerous occasions that she "was unable to obtain significant 

information" about the City's search or that the City "refused to answer 

discovery" and likens the facts in this matter to the facts in Neighborhood 

Alliance of Spokane County v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, P.3d 119 

(20 11 ). Petition at 4. These claims are without merit. 

Unlike in Neighborhood Alliance, where the agency actually 

refused to answer any discovery requests or requests for nonexempt 

information, Block did conduct discovery here. The City understandably 

and permissibly objected to certain deposition questions seeking the 

contents of attorney-client privilege communications. If Block truly 

believed that the City's objections were improper, she could have filed a 

motion to compel responses. She did not do so. 
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Block's argument further ignores the undisputed facts in this 

record that the City responded to numerous, non-privileged questions 

regarding the search (see CP 71-73, 79-80), and Block also fails to offer 

any explanation for her failure to depose former Mayor Hill during the 

three-year period between the filing and dismissal of the underlying 

Complaint. 

Finally, Block's arguments on the burden of proof and her claims 

that the trial court and Court of Appeals improperly shifted the burden 

ignore the actual facts in this case. The trial court and Court of Appeals 

found that the City had, and met, its burden as a public agency and as a 

moving party on summary judgment. Block's arguments simply fail to 

recognize or acknowledge the long-standing law of summary judgment 

relied on by the City, the trial court, and the Court of Appeals- namely, 

once the City met its burden on summary judgment, the inquiry did in fact 

properly shift to Block to demonstrate with admissible evidence the 

existence of an issue of material fact. She did not do so. Young, 112 

Wn.2d at 225; See Block's Appendix A -- "In sum, the City bore its 

burden to show that its searches for public records were adequate." 

Decision at 14; "The City established that the redacted portions of the 

documents were privileged." Id. at 19; and "[T]he City bore its burden to 

show that its privilege log ... was adequate." Id. at 25. 
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2. Under Decisions of the Court of Appeals, CR 56 Remains 
Wholly Applicable in a PRA Case. 

Block submits this case is appropriate for review under RAP 

13.4(b)(2) because "the decision is in conflict with ... another decision of 

the Court of Appeals." Petition at 7. Block's Petition fails to cite to any 

decision of the Court of Appeals. See Table of Authorities, Petition at ii. 

"Where contentions raised on appeal are not supported by citation of 

authority [this Court] will not consider them unless well taken on their 

face." Griffin, 91 Wn.2d at 630 (citing State v. Kroll, 87 Wn.2d 829, 558 

P.2d 173 (1976)). 

Rather than conflicting with other decisions of the Court of 

Appeals, the instant decision is fully consistent with other decisions of the 

Court of Appeals. See Building Industry Assoc. of Washington ("BIA W") 

v. McCarthy, 152 Wn. App. 720, 736, 218 P .3d 196 (2009) ("[T]o avoid 

summary judgment, in answer to the [agency's] affidavits, [public records 

requestor] had to present the court with 'facts . . . not just mere 

speculation, not wishes, not thoughts, but facts that would be admissible at 

trial."'); (Forbes, 171 Wn. App. at 866 ("The focal point of the judicial 

inquiry is the agency's search process, not the outcome of its search."); 

Koenig. 160 Wn. at 889 ("The Rules of Civil Procedure apply in a PRA 

action."). Block failed to show this decision warrants review under RAP 
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13 .4(b )(2). 

3. The City's Search for Records Was Reasonable and 
Adequate. 

Next, Block argues that the instant decision is inconsistent with the 

holding in Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d 702, and analogizes the 

City's search to the game of Monopoly: 

[T]his court has held that an unreasonable 
search precludes an adequate response, this 
Court has never held that a reasonable 
search alone will establish a response was 
adequate . . . The Opinion here equates an 
alleged "reasonable search" showing to a 
"Get out of jail free card" wherein no other 
facts need to be examined if an agency 
alleges its initial search was reasonable. 

Petition at 13. Block's argument mischaracterizes both the Court of 

Appeals' opinion here, and this Court's holding in Neighborhood 

Alliance. The Block court did not hold that a City need only allege that it 

conducted a reasonable search in order to satisfy its burden without 

examining supporting facts. Instead, the Block court - specifically relying 

on and citing to Neighborhood Alliance - noted: 

To establish that its search was adequate in a 
motion for summary judgment, "the agency 
may rely on reasonably detailed, 
nonconclusory affidavits submitted in good 
faith." This evidence should describe the 
search and "establish that all places likely to 
contain responsive materials were 
searched." 
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Here, the City relied on evidence that it 
submitted in support of its motion for 
summary judgment to show that its searches 
were adequate. 5 

Block's Appendix A, Decision at 7. Rather than creating a "get out of jail 

free card" as Block purports, the Court of Appeals relied on the 

declarations and deposition testimony of several City officials as 

specifically authorized by this Court in Neighborhood Alliance, supra. 

Again relying on and citing to Neighborhood Alliance, the Block 

court then continued: 

[T]he focus of the inquiry is not whether 
responsive documents do in fact exist, but 
whether the search itself was adequate. The 
adequacy of a search is judged by a standard 
of reasonableness, that is, the search must be 
reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant 
documents. What will be considered 
reasonable will depend on the facts of each 
case. When examining the circumstances of 
a case, then, the issue of whether the 
search was reasonably calculated and 
therefore adequate is separate from 
whether additional responsive documents 
exist but are not found. 

Block's Appendix A, Decision at 6-7 (emphasis m original). 

5 Block's Appendix A, Decision at 3. 
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The City did not simply allege that it had completed an adequate 

search. Rather, the City provided, and the Court of Appeals relied upon, 

the numerous affidavits and deposition testimony of City officials showing 

the lengths to which the City went in searching for responsive documents. 

The record below establishes that the City had conducted a reasonable 

search and that it was entitled to summary judgment. 

Block states - in bold and underline, "(T)his Court has never 

held that a reasonable search alone will establish a response was 

adequate." Petition at 13 (emphasis in original). For such a seemingly 

important statement, the City would expect that Block would follow up by 

citing to cases in which this Court found that an agency had violated the 

PRA despite completing an adequate search. 

But Block cites to none. And reference to Neighborhood Alliance 

again answers Block's concern. "The focus of the inquiry is not whether 

responsive documents do in fact exist, but whether the search itself was 

adequate." 1 72 W n. 2d at 719-720. 

Block's arguments remain red herrings, and in no manner remedy 

her failure to rebut with admissible evidence the City's detailed, factual 

description of its search for records consistent with this Court's direction 

in Neighborhood Alliance. 
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4. The City's Exemption Logs Provide More Than Sufficient 
Information for Block to Make a Threshold Determination 
That the City Properly Claimed Exemptions. 

Block next asserts, and again without citation to authority, a novel 

proposition that the City's use "of the same cut and paste statement for 

every one of the withheld or redacted records, typographical errors 

included" in some manner invalidates the City's privilege logs. Petition at 

10. This premise is unsupported by Court of Appeals or Supreme Court 

precedent. The City understandably used the same explanation for each 

record withheld or redacted because it claimed the same exemptions for 

each such record. 

The City's exemption logs, prepared separately for the December 

2008 PRR and the February 2009 PRR, fully satisfy the applicable 

standard. Even the most cursory review of the City's detailed exemption 

logs enabled Block (and her retained counsel) to make the "threshold 

determination" that Gold Bar "properly claimed the privilege. "6 

Block heavily relies on Sanders v. State, but Sanders offers no help 

to Block, and the Court of Appeals distinguished that case based on the 

substantial factual differences at issue. 169 Wn.2d 827, 240 P.3d 120 

(2010). See Block's Appendix A, Decision at 24 ("The privilege log[s] in 

this case [do] not resemble the log in Sanders.") In Sanders, the Court 

6 Gronguist v. Dep't of Licensing, 175 Wn. App. 729,744,309 P.3d 538 (2013). 
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reviewed the State's bare exemption log, and understandably concluded 

that "[a]llowing the mere identification of a document and the claimed 

exemption to count as a 'brief explanation' would render [the PRA's] 

brief-explanation clause superfluous." Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 846. 

By contrast, the City's exemption logs here fully comply with the 

statutory requirements. CP 428-438. The City's logs include detailed 

descriptions of the documents. For example, "handwritten notes on email 

pages re Majerle v. City of Gold Bar" and "email/letter from [Lawrence] 

to [Hill] RE Majerle v. Gold Bar Analysis of conversation with Brian Dale 

Majerle's Attorney." CP 429-432. The City's logs cite to the statutory 

exemption and applicable case law, and also include the required "brief 

explanation" of the exemption- "content is attorney advice to client." CP 

433-438. Any further disclosure by the City could have, or would have, 

disclosed privileged content. Nothing more is necessary in order for a 

requester to make the required "threshold determination of whether the 

agency properly claimed the privilege."7 

The Court of Appeals "carefully examined each of the [exemption 

log] descriptions," and determined "they all allow a requestor to make a 

threshold determination whether the claim of exemption is proper." 

Block's Appendix A, Decision at 23 and 25. 

7 Gronquist, 175 Wn. App. at 744. 
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5. Two Courts Have Now Found That the Attorney-Client 
Privilege and Work Product Doctrines Exemptions Apply. 

Block states, "[The City] should have provided the trial court with 

any record where the content of the record bore on the exempt nature of 

the document." Petition at 16. Block vaguely references Sanders to 

support this notion by stating, "[r]ecords will rarely be entirely exempt, as 

cases such as Sanders have illustrated." ld. Block, however, does not 

include a supporting pin cite, a reference to a holding, or even dicta. 

Instead, again, Block provides only a blanket assertion, without any 

supporting authority. 

Regarding the "withheld" records, the Court of Appeals found, 

simply by a "reasonable reading" of the descriptions on the exemption 

logs, that "[i]t is self-evident that these e-mails fall within the work 

product doctrine. If there is a legitimate claim they do not, Block has 

failed to make it." Block's Appendix A, Decision at 18. 

Significantly here, the Court of Appeals correctly points out that 

Block had the opportunity in the lower court to request in camera review 

of the 66 pages of fully withheld documents, as she did with the 29 pages 

of partially redacted documents from the second request, but she did not 

do so.8 This was not an oversight on Block's part - rather, she 

8 Block's Appendix A, Decision at 8-9. 
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affirmatively declined to seek such in camera review. CP 604 (fn 3).9 

Further, the Court of Appeals and the trial court reviewed the 

redacted records. Both found that the City established that the redacted 

portions were privileged. Block points to no evidence to the contrary. 

C. No Substantial Public Interest Justifies Review. 

Block's Petition claims that this "case presents a unique vehicle to 

address these important questions . . . [and the] issues raised in this case 

continue to recur in the trial courts . . . . " Petition at 17. Block cites to no 

other cases, in the trial courts or otherwise, where these issues have 

perplexed litigants or judges. The law on summary judgment is clear, and 

was followed here. The law on the adequacy of a search for public 

records is clear, and was followed here. The law on the information 

required to be included in a privilege log is clear, and was also followed 

here. 

This case dealt with a small city's antiquated computer system, 

thousands of records, and a requester who, in concert with her allies, has 

made hundreds of overlapping and extensive records requests causing 

9 Block's Motion for Summary Judgment specifically sought in camera review of only 
the 29 pages of redacted documents, and not of the 66 pages offully withheld documents. 
CP 604 (fu 3), 590. This fact, however, does not stop Block from arguing that "Division 
One declines to address the withholding in their entirety of the 66 pages of records 
faulting the requestor, and not the City, for the fact the records were not provided by the 
City for an in camera review to support the City's claim of exemption." Petition at 10. 
She again cites to no authority which would require the City to seek in camera review 
prior to withholding records pursuant to the attorney-client and work product privileges. 
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widespread disruption to the City's operations. The Court of Appeals' 

decision merely applied well-established law regarding summary 

judgment in the context of a Public Records Act case to the facts below. 

No issue of substantial public interest exists to justify review here. 

D. Block Did Not Prevail, and Thus She Is Not Entitled to 
Attorney's Fees. 

Block states: 

This Court's precedents make clear that a 
requestor should be awarded fees and costs 
when any of the following occur: she was 
not afforded an adequate response, or an 
adequate exemption statement, or non
exempt records were not produced to her, or 
the agency did not perform a reasonable 
search. 

Petition at 18. This is a misapplication of the law to this case. The PRA 

awards "[a]ny person who prevails against an agency ... all costs, 

including reasonable attorney fees." 10 Simply stated, Block did not prevail 

at the trial court level, nor at the appellate level. Accordingly, the Court of 

Appeals correctly applied the plain statement of the law in denying 

Block's request for fees. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny review. The 

Court of Appeals' decision correctly and plainly applied well-established 

10 RCW 42.56.550(4) (emphasis added). 
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precedent to affirm on summary judgment a fact-specific case involving 

the search, review, redaction, and disclosure of public records. The 

criteria in RAP 13.4(b) have not been met, and Block has not cited to a 

single case that would justify why review by the Supreme Court is 

unwarranted. Block's Petition should be denied.